No. <u>89521</u>-0

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

LEGACY PARTNERS RIVERPARK APARTMENTS BUILDINGS A/B LLC; LEGACY PARTNERS RIVERPARK APARTMENTS BUILDING E LLC, Delaware Limited Liability Corporations,

Petitioners,

VS.

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, a Municipal Corporation, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

William C. Severson, WSBA # 5816
WILLIAM C. SEVERSON PLLC
1001 Fourth Avenue Suite 4400
Seattle, WA 98154-1192
(206) 838-4191
Attorney for Petitioners

I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal presents two crucial questions: (1) Must administrative officers comply with statutory limits on the scope of their authority? and (2) Are assessors barred from retroactively revising assessed values after the assessment roll is closed and taxes have been levied and billed? This Court has consistently answered both of these questions in the affirmative, but Division I of the Court of Appeals reached the opposite result.

In 2009 and 2010 the King County Assessor failed to timely list the value of newly constructed improvements on two condominium parcels owned by petitioners. RCW 36.21.080 gives assessors "up to August 31" to list new construction at a special stepped-up July 31 value, rather than a regular January 1 value. The Court of Appeals disregarded the statutory August 31 deadline and upheld listings that were posted long after that deadline passed. That decision is contrary to the plain statutory language and long-standing precedent. It undermines the reliance interests of property owners and potential purchasers that the Legislature and this Court have long protected.

Buyers and sellers in the real estate market must be able to determine with certainty the tax obligations lodged against real property.

They cannot be put at risk that properties they own or wish to buy are encumbered by inchoate and undisclosed back tax liabilities. The final tax

rolls have always provided this certainty. Assessors have never been allowed to revise values after the rolls are closed. Division I disregarded this long-standing rule. Its decision allows assessors to continue revising assessed values for three years after the rolls are closed. While it is understandable that Division I would want to allow the Assessor to correct his listing errors, its decision does far greater harm than good because it disregards plain statutory language and this Court's decisions and it undermines the finality of assessments.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners, Legacy Partners Riverpark Apartments Buildings A/B LLC and Legacy Partners Riverpark Apartments Building E LLC (hereinafter jointly referred to as "Legacy"), are the owners whose property was charged with the disputed taxes.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Legacy seeks review of the unpublished opinion of Division I of the Court of Appeals filed on September 3, 2013. *See* Appendix A-1 through A-11. Legacy's motion to publish was denied on October 2, 2013. *See* Appendix A-12.

IV. ISSUES

- 1. May assessors disregard the August 31 time limit in RCW 36.21.080 for listing new construction value for assessment?
- 2. Does RCW 84.48.065(1) grant assessors a three-year extension to finalize the listing of new construction value?
- 3. Does a listing that is posted to the rolls on November 3, with notice to the taxpayer on November 10, substantially comply with the May 31 listing date for property that is not valued as new construction?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts

This case involves the 2009 and 2010 property tax assessments of two condominium parcels upon which Legacy completed newly constructed improvements in 2009 and 2010.

1. Legacy's 2009 Assessments (for taxes payable in 2010)

For 2009, the Assessor initially assessed Legacy's parcels as of January 1, 2009, with the improvements on each parcel valued at \$1,000. CP 14, ¶¶ 4.11, 4.13; CP 20, ¶¶ 4.11, 4.13. On June 18, 2009, the Assessor mailed Legacy the 2009 Official Property Valuation Notices with these values. In the meantime, a staff appraiser visited the site in

¹ CP 57-58. The notices were mailed pursuant to RCW 84.40.045. Both the notices and the assessment listings separately state land value and improvement value. Division I referred to these as "placeholder" values, as though they were not real value estimates. See Op. at 2-5. But there is no such thing as placeholder values. The only values that assessors may list on the rolls are "true and fair value" Both the listings on the rolls and the valuation notices sent to Legacy represented the \$1,000 improvement values as true and fair value, not as placeholder value. Those values are presumptively correct. Hammond Lumber

June to estimate the value of the new construction as of July 31, 2009, as authorized by RCW 36.21.080 (Appendix A-31). CP 126, 204-205. The appraiser calculated and entered proposed values for the new construction into the Assessor's internal computer system, but those values were not posted to the assessment roll because, by error or oversight, they were never reviewed and approved for posting by a senior appraiser, as office policy required.² Instead, the original \$1,000 January 1 improvement values remained on the final 2009 roll. Taxes for 2010 were billed and first half taxes paid, all based on the \$1,000 values. CP 60-61, 204-205.

The Assessor first learned that Legacy's new construction values for 2009 had not posted to the assessment roll in late April, 2010. The Assessor sought to then correct the error by reopening the tax roll and increasing the improvement values from \$1,000 to the values previously proposed but not posted by the staff appraiser. CP 205-206.

2. Legacy's 2010 Assessments (for taxes payable in 2011)

For assessment year 2010, the Assessor again initially valued the improvements on Legacy's two parcels as of January 1, 2010 at \$1,000,

Co. v. Cowlitz County, 84 Wash. 462, 465, 147 P. 19 (1915); RCW 84.40.020; RCW 84.40.320.

 $^{^2}$ CP 158-160, 205. The staff appraiser estimated the value of the new improvements on parcel 733805-0010 as of July 31, 2009, at \$16,129,600 and on parcel 733805-0040 at \$14,135,900. CP 14, \P 4.17; CP 20, \P 4.17; CP 126.

and Official Property Valuation Notices with those values were mailed to Legacy on July 15, 2010. CP 73-74. On August 3, 2010, a staff member placed revised value estimates, with the improvements valued as of July 31, 2010, in "ready-to-post" status in the Assessor's internal computer system.³ CP 127, 152. But rather than posting those values to the rolls and notifying Legacy within thirty days of the appraisal as directed by RCW 84.40.045, the new values were held in abeyance until November 3, 2010, when they were finally posted to the roll. Notice of these revisions was not mailed to Legacy until November 11, 2010. CP 76-77.

B. Procedure

Legacy paid the supplemental 2010 and 2011 taxes that were charged against the additional new improvement value under protest and filed this action under RCW 84.68 for a tax refund. On cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court granted judgment to the County, upholding the taxes. Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed.

VI. ARGUMENT FOR REVIEW

This appeal meets the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the decisions of this Court and

³ The improvement values estimated for July 31, 2010 were \$14,997,400 for Building A/B and \$15,433,300 for Building E. Op. at 4, n. 5.

raises important questions of tax administration that have continuing statewide significance.

A. The Court of Appeals' Rejection of the August 31 Deadline for Listing New Construction is Contrary to the Plain Statutory Language and this Court's Decisions.

RCW 36.21.080 (Appendix A-31) authorizes assessors to assess new construction on a different basis than other real property. While other property is valued as of January 1, assessors value new construction as of July 31, so that the value added by construction up to that date can be included in the current year assessment. The Legislature, however, placed a clear time limit on the assessors' authority to list new construction at this special stepped-up basis. They have "up to August 31" to do so. *Id.*

The Legislature had good reason to limit the time within which assessors must list new construction value. New construction is not subject to the levy limitations imposed by RCW 84.55.010, so it increases the levy capacity of affected tax districts. For this benefit to be realized, however, the new construction value must be known to the taxing districts when they make their tax levies. The August 31 listing cutoff accomplishes this by assuring that new construction is listed *before* the equalized rolls are certified to the taxing districts under RCW 84.48.130. The decision below thwarts this legislative purpose.

Division I disregarded the August 31 deadline and instead gave assessors up to three years after the close of the rolls to list new construction. That disregard of plain statutory language is contrary to this Court's decisions. RCW 36.21.080 specifies the time within which assessors are authorized to list new construction at a July 31 value. When the Legislature specifies how and when a grant of authority is to be exercised, the terms are mandatory. ** Erection Co. v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 121 Wn.2d 513, 852 P.2d 288 (1993), confirms that jurisdictional time limits on a grant of authority are mandatory. ** Id.* at 518-520.* Division I's decision conflicts with these decisions. In addition, it violates the principle that "[e]xceptions are, as a general rule, to be strictly construed and allowed to extend only so far as their language warrants." State v. Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d 221, 232, 559 P.2d 548 (1977).

__

⁴ "Powers conferred upon a public officer can be exercised only in the manner, and under the circumstances, prescribed by law, and any attempted exercise thereof in any other manner or under different circumstances is a nullity." *In re Elvigen's Estate*, 191 Wash. 614, 623, 71 P.2d 672 (1937); "Wherever the language gives a direction as to the manner of exercising a power, it was intended that the power should be exercised in the manner directed, and in no other manner." *State ex rel. Linn v. Superior Court for King County*, 20 Wn.2d 138, 153, 146 P.2d 543 (1944) (quoting *Varney v. Justice*, 6 S.W. 457).

⁵ The Court in *Erection Co.* also noted that evidence of legislative concern for the adequacy of a statutory time period further indicates that the time period is mandatory. *Id.* at 522-523. Here, the original 1982 bill extending the time for listing new construction initially proposed a September 30 cutoff. *See* House Bill Report ESSB 3783 (1982) (Appendix A-13 – A-16). In the final enactment, it was moved back to August 31. Laws of 1982, 1st ex.sess., ch. 46 § 4 (Appendix A-17 – A-18). That legislative judgment is entitled to respect.

B. Neither RCW 84.48.065 nor *Niichel v. Lancaster* Excuse Compliance with the August 31 New Construction Listing Deadline.

Division I gave two reasons for disregarding the August 31 listing cutoff. First, it concluded that RCW 84.48.065 (Appendix A-31 – A-32) gives assessors three years to correct a failure to list new value, at least where the assessor's internal records contain proposed but unposted values. Op. at 6-7. Second, it concluded that, under *Niichel v. Lancaster*, 97 Wn.2d 620, 647 P.2d 1021 (1982), the August 31 cutoff date is merely directory. Op. at 10, n. 24. The court erred on both counts.

1. RCW 84.48.065 neither waives the August 31 new construction listing cutoff nor authorizes retroactive revisions to values listed on a closed assessment roll.

Division I failed to appreciate the overriding importance of finality and certainty in the tax rolls and failed to respect the express statutory limits on the authority of assessors to change assessed values after the rolls are closed. The tax roll is the official record of property tax obligations. It has always been the rule that owners and potential purchasers are entitled to rely on that official record to establish what tax obligations exist.⁶ To preserve this certainty and finality, assessors are barred from

<sup>Lewis v. Bishop, 19 Wash. 312, 317, 53 P. 165 (1898); Hammond Lumber Co. v. Cowlitz County, 84 Wash. 462, 147 P. 19 (1915); Ballard v. Wooster, 182
Wash. 408, 412, 45 P.2d 511 (1935); E. K. Wood Lumber Co. v. Whatcom County, 5 Wn.2d 63, 72, 104 P.2d 752 (1940); British Columbia Breweries Ltd. v. King County, 17 Wn.2d 437, 443-444, 135 P.2d 870 (1943); Tradewell Stores v. Snohomish County, 69 Wn.2d 352, 355, 418 P.2d 466 (1966); Tacoma</sup>

revising values after the assessment rolls are closed. See cases cited in note 6, supra. This finality is crucial because if assessors could retroactively change values on a closed roll, owners and potential buyers would never know with certainty whether or not a back tax liability exists.

Division I ruled, in effect, that RCW 84.48.065 repeals this long standing rule of assessment finality. It held that the authority that statute gives to correct listing errors "that do not involve revaluation of property" grants authority to retroactively revise values if the revised value had been noted somewhere in the assessor's internal records during the assessment year. That interpretation patently misconstrues the statutory language and dangerously undermines the principle of assessment finality.

The authority to correct errors "that do not involve revaluation of property" refers to corrections that do not change or revise values.⁷ It does not authorize assessors to retroactively "correct" improvement values after the rolls are closed. It does not matter whether the assessor's internal files contain a prior record of a "correct" value. The statutory concern is to maintain the integrity of the tax roll as the official record of tax

Goodwill Industries Rehabilitation Center, Inc. v. Pierce County, 10 Wn.App. 197, 199, 518 P.2d 196, 197 (1973).

⁷ A revaluation is a new or revised valuation. To revise means to look over again to correct error or make improvements. Webster's Third New International Dictionary. The revised assessments plainly revalued Legacy's improvements.

obligations upon which owners and *bona fide* parties are entitled to rely.

They need not sift through the assessor's working files, searching for other value estimates that might generate a back tax obligation.

The Legislature and this Court have recognized the tax rolls as the official record of tax obligations and overriding importance of protecting the finality and certainty of that record for the benefit of owners and *bona fide* parties. *See* cases cited in note 6, *supra*. Division I's decision conflicts with those decisions and undermines assessment certainty. Here, for example, if Legacy had sold its two parcels in March 2010 – before the Assessor discovered the 2009 listing error – a title search would have shown taxes owing based upon the \$1,000 improvement values for 2009. The purchaser would have had no reason to question those taxes. Yet Division I would allow the Assessor to subsequently revise the 2009 assessments and impose back taxes on that purchaser's newly acquired property. RCW 84.48.065 does not sanction that result.

The phrase "manifest errors in the listing of property which do not involve a revaluation of property" originated in a 1915 statute specifying the errors that county treasurers were to identify and report for correction. Laws of 1915, ch. 122, § 2 (Appendix A-28). The language barred

⁸ The real property tax obligation is enforced *only* as a lien against the property assessed. RCW 84.60.010 and 84.60.020.

treasurers from revaluing property, both because valuation is the province of assessors and because tax administrators cannot change values after the rolls close. This language never granted treasurers license to infringe the valuation authority of assessors or revise assessed values. In 1988, the Legislature streamlined the assessment correction procedures, giving both assessors and treasurers the authority to make these treasurer corrections on their own. But the scope of the correction authority did not change; it is still limited to the non-valuation errors that had previously been within the treasurers' sole authority to address.

This understanding is confirmed by the statute itself. It provides that: "Manifest errors that do not involve a revaluation of property include the assessment of property exempted by law from taxation or the failure to deduct the exemption allowed by law to the head of a family." These errors concern the tax status of property, not value. Correcting exempt status does not change value and works no prejudice to those who rely on

⁹ The valuation function belongs to assessor and cannot be transferred to treasurer. *Lockwood v. Roys*, 11 Wash. 697, 703, 40 P. 346, 348 (1895). "[I]t was not in the province of a county treasurer to make an assessment.... The county treasurer has no such authority under law." *Brewer v. Dunning*, 122 Wash. 358, 359, 210 Pac. 672 (1922).

¹⁰ Laws 1988, ch. 222, § 25 (Appendix A-20 – A-21).

the finality of the values listed on the tax roll. These are the types of errors that the clause provides authority to correct, not valuation errors.¹¹

This conclusion is further confirmed by fact that RCW 84.48.065 calls out one special circumstance in which a valuation error *can* be corrected – that is, where the assessed value is erroneous because it is based on an incorrect land use designation. *Id.* By specially authorizing revaluations in this single instance, it is presumed, under *expressio unius* est exclusion alterius, that other valuation corrections are *not* authorized.¹² The Court of Appeals erroneous reading of RCW 84.48.065 renders this special revaluation authorization utterly incongruous.

_

Under ejusdem generis, general terms are given meaning and effect only to the extent they suggest items similar to those designated by the specific terms. Dean v. McFarland, 81 Wn.2d 215, 221, 500 P.2d 1244 (1972); See also, Hermance v. Ulster County Sup'rs, 71 N.Y. 481 (1877). Although Division I did not rely on the Department of Revenue's definition of manifest error in WAC 458-14-005(14), the County likely will cite that definition as support for its position. The County will argue that, under that rule, a change in value is a "revaluation" only if it involves "appraisal judgment." But nothing in the text, purpose or history of the statute supports that view. Moreover, that theory has the same underlying flaw as the Court of Appeals' theory. Whether or not a change in value involves appraisal judgment is irrelevant to the statutory purpose. The statute assure finality and certainty so that owners and innocent third parties may rely on the taxes as listed on the rolls. This protects against undisclosed retroactive tax liens. Owners and innocent purchaser do not care whether or not a surprise ex post facto tax results from an error in appraisal judgment or something else. What matters is that buyers and sellers can rely on the certainty of tax obligation stated on the tax roll.

Wash. State Republican Party v. Wash. State Pub. Disclosure Comm'n, 141 Wn.2d 245, 280, 4 P.3d 808 (2000).

2. The Court of Appeals' decision places RCW 84.48.065 in conflict with RCW 84.40.080 and this Court's decision in *Tradewell Stores*, *Inc.* v. Snohomish County.

The error in Legacy's 2009 assessments was that the Assessor failed to include the value of the new buildings in the assessed value of Legacy's improvements. But it is RCW 84.40.080 (Appendix A-31), not RCW 84.48.065, that determines when and how such omissions can be corrected. RCW 84.40.080 grants assessors the authority to assess omitted improvements, but only when the omission is evidenced by the assessment roll itself. It does not allow assessors to retroactively revise values. ¹³ In Tradewell Stores, Inc. v. Snohomish County, 69 Wn.2d 352, 418 P.2d 466 (1966), under facts that are virtually identical to the facts here, this Court ruled that RCW 84.40.080 prohibits omit assessments where some improvement value is initially listed because "[p]roperty owners who are taxed for 'improvements' on a piece of property and who pay the amount for which they are billed should be entitled to rely on the record thus made." Id. at 354-355. This rule preserves the finality and certainty of the tax rolls. RCW 84.48.065 must be construed in harmony with this longstanding rule. Division I declined to do so, choosing instead to

¹³ "It has been consistently held that this statute does not authorize the assessor to recover omitted value, where property has been listed but erroneously undervalued on the tax rolls of prior years." *Tacoma Goodwill Industries Rehabilitation Center, Inc. v. Pierce County*, 10 Wn.App. 197, 199, 518 P.2d 196 (1973).

disregard *Tradewell* and to construe RCW 84.48.065 to override the limitations and protections in RCW 84.40.080. That was clear error.

Division I dismissed the conflict its decision creates with *Tradewell* and RCW 84.40.080, claiming that the limits on omit assessments do not apply to corrections made under RCW 84.48.065. Op. at 6, n.16. But disregarding RCW 84.40.080 does not harmonize the statutes. Harmonizing means construing the statutes to avoid rendering either superfluous or meaningless. ¹⁴ The Court of Appeals' reading of RCW 84.48.065 does not harmonize – it nullifies the restrictions that RCW 84.40.080 places on omit assessments and ignores *Tradewell*.

RCW 84.40.080 and RCW 84.48.065 are easily harmonized.

RCW 84.40.080 bars retroactive revaluations to protect owners and innocent purchasers from unfair retroactive taxes. No such protections are needed in RCW84.48.065 because it was never intended as a vehicle for revising values. Division I's decision places these statutes in conflict, allowing assessors to make the very retroactive revaluations that are expressly barred by RCW 84.40.080. That is absurd. Why would the Legislature go to great lengths to protect owners and *bona fide* parties

14 AOL, LLC v. Washington State Dept. of Revenue, 149 Wn.App. 533, 542, 205 P.3d 159 (2009).

¹⁵ If RCW 84.40.080 and RCW 84.48.065 cannot be harmonized, then RCW 84.40.080 controls because it is the more specific statute. *Higbee v. Shorewood Osteopathic Hosp.*, 105 Wn.2d 33, 37, 711 P.2d 306 (1985).

from retroactive value changes in RCW 84.40.080, but then turn right around nullify those limits in RCW 84.48.065(1)? That makes no sense.

Division I was obviously troubled by the seeming unfairness of allowing the added value of Legacy's new improvements to escape taxation. ¹⁶ But as this Court made clear in *Tradewell*, that is an issue for the Legislature to resolve, not the courts. *Id.* at 356. The Legislature has declined to change this rule. In 1994, the Department proposed amending RCW 84.40.080 to partially overrule *Tradewell* and specifically authorize omit assessments where, as here, some improvement value had previously been listed on the roll. That proposal, however, did not pass. ¹⁷

RCW 84.48.065(1) is not a backdoor way around the time limit for listing new construction, the requirements for omit assessments, this Court's decision in *Tradewell*, or the finality of closed tax rolls. It does not authorize assessors and treasurers to revise values after the rolls have closed. If an assessor fails to list new construction by August 31, the

_

¹⁶ The alleged unfairness of this result is rather overblown. Up until 1955, there was no special treatment of new construction. Until then, all real property was value as of January 1. See Laws of 1955, ch. 129, § 5 (Appendix A-29, A-30). That result is not so unfair that avoiding it justifies Division I's statutory contortions and abuse of precedent. Indeed, those who complain that the discriminatory treatment of new construction is unfair may have the better fairness argument. See Fifteen-O-One Fourth Ave. P'ship v. Dep't of Revenue, 49 Wn.App. 300, 742 P.2d 747 (1987).

¹⁷ See SSB 5372, § 19, Senate Bill Report (1994) (Appendix A-23 – A-26).

special authorization in RCW 36.21.080 expires for that year, and the property is assessed at its value as of January 1, just like all other property.

3. Niichel v. Lancaster does not excuse a failure to timely list new construction.

Division I also concluded that, under *Niichel v. Lancaster, supra*, the August 31 deadline for listing new construction is merely directory. Op. at 10, n.24. But that ignores the clear differences in language and legislative intent between RCW 84.40.040 and RCW 36.21.080, and it fails to adhere to this Court's decision in *Erection Co., supra*.

The language and purpose of the August 31 cutoff for new construction listings is entirely different than the listing date for regular assessments that was addressed in *Niichel*. *Niichel* decided that the May 31 listing date for regular assessments was directory because it was only to guide the assessment process and, in itself, had no special significance. *Id.* at 626. But the Court recognized that the result is different where "the phraseology of the statute is such that the designation of time must be considered a limitation of the power of the officer." *Id.* at 623 (quoting 3 J. Sutherland, *Statutory Construction* § 5816, at 102 (3d ed. 1943)). Unlike RCW 84.40.040, RCW 36.21.080 is not just part of the directory timetable for tax assessments. It is a special, time-limited grant of power to assess new construction differently than other property. The August 31

deadline defines the period within which that authority may be exercised.¹⁸

In *Niichel*, the Court's concern was that strict enforcement of the timetable would "undermine the taxing system of the state," for no good reason because there was "no special significance" to the exact dates in the timetable. *Id.* at 626. Here, in contrast, the Legislature had good reason to set August 31 as a real deadline for listing new construction: it assures that levy officials know the value of new construction before making their levies. Enforcing that deadline provides a powerful incentive for assessors to timely list new construction, and there is no dire consequence to enforcing the statute as written. ¹⁹

Moreover, the phraseology of RCW 36.21.080 does not allow the time limit to be construed as a mere guideline. RCW 36.21.080 grants authority to list new construction "up to August 31," not after August 31. The question here is not, as in *Niichel*, whether "shall" is to be construed as directory or mandatory. Rather, the question is whether "up to" can be

-

¹⁸ If the assessor misses the August 31 deadline, the new value can be added as such the following year. The benefit to the tax districts is not forever lost.

¹⁹ The choice of August 31 as the new construction listing cutoff date in 1982 likely was based on former RCW 84.52.020 which at that time required levy officials to certify their tax levies in early October. Although the specific levy certification date has been removed, both the general timeframe for making tax levies and the specific time period for listing new construction remain unchanged.

construed to mean "after." It cannot. The phraseology and purpose of the statute does not allow that result. ²⁰

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