RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 27, 2013, 3:34 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 89521-0

RECEIVED BY MAIL

LEGACY PARTNERS RIVERPARK APARTMENTS BUILDINGS A/B LLC; LEGACY PARTNERS RIVERPARK APARTMENTS BUILDING E LLC, Delaware Limited Liability Corporations, Petitioners, v. KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON a Municipal Corporation, Respondent.

KING COUNTY ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

MICHAEL J. SINSKY Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000

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

III. ARGUMENT

Further review in this case is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b) criteria. Legacy's assertion that the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision either conflicts with prior Supreme Court decisions or raises important tax administration questions of statewide significance is not borne out by the well-established and narrow grounds upon which the decision is based.

A. Manifest Error Correction of 2009 Assessments.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Assessor's authority to correct a ministerial posting error in its 2009 assessments pursuant to a plain reading of RCW 84.48.065(1). That provision allows assessments to be corrected due to, among other reasons, "manifest errors in the listing of property which do not involve a revaluation of property."

Legacy inaccurately suggests that the decision conflicts with *Tradewell Stores, Inc. v. Snohomish County,* 69 Wn.2d 352, 418 P.2d 466 (1966). There is no conflict between Division One's manifest error decision and the holding in *Tradewell. Tradewell* does not involve or even make mention of manifest error

corrections under RCW 84.48.065. Rather, it addresses assessment revisions in the altogether different context of omitted assessments under RCW 84.40.080. The Assessor has not relied upon, and Division One does not purport to address in any respect, the assessor's omit authority. The County acknowledges that omit authority does not apply, given that \$1,000 placeholder improvement values were initially applied to Legacy's parcels.⁵ Legacy suggests conflict that does not exist.

The Court's decision regarding the Assessor's 2009 manifest error correction likewise does not raise any significant issue of statewide importance. The decision turns on a rather unusual set of facts involving a computer program error that prevented previously established assessed value from posting to the assessment roll. With respect to these facts, the Court applies straightforward statutory standards in RCW 84.48.065 to its review and affirmance of the Assessor's corrective action.

⁵ Even if, hypothetically, no value had been placed on Legacy's parcels, and the omit statute did apply, there is no question that the Assessor's correction here would have been lawful under that RCW 84.40.080 omit authority. Indeed, in that hypothetical circumstance where no value was listed, the Assessor would not have been restricted to previously established assessment values and could have exercised appraisal judgment anew to value the parcels. RCW 84.40.080.

RCW 84.48.065 expressly allows for the "correction of manifest errors in the listing of property which do not involve a revaluation of property." Legacy's assertion that such manifest error corrections may not result in a change in assessed value is clearly at odds with the plain language and purpose of the statute to correct ministerial assessment errors, see RCW 84.48.065(1) (specifying that "[t]he county assessor or treasurer may cancel or correct assessments....") (emphasis added); with the context in which such correction authorization appears, id. (delineating particular types of corrections that clearly relate to value and providing taxpavers opportunity to appeal revised values to the county board of equalization); and with common dictionary and adopted rule definitions, see WAC 458-14-005(14)(defining prohibited "revaluation" to mean a "change in the value of property based upon an exercise of appraisal judgment") (emphasis added).⁶ In this case, the Assessor did not "revalue" Legacy's parcels. It ministerially input previously determined assessed values that had erroneously failed to post to the rolls.

⁶ More detailed responses to each of Legacy's arguments regarding the scope of RCW 84.48.065 manifest error correction authority are provided in at pages 5 through 7 of the Court of Appeals decision and at pages 13 through 22 of King County's Court of Appeals brief.

Legacy also argues that Division One erred by affirming authority to correct assessed value under the manifest error statute after the assessment roll had closed. The plain language of the statute again readily refutes Legacy's claim. RCW 84.48.065 expressly authorizes manifest error corrections to be made for a period "three years preceding the year in which the error is discovered" and further sets forth a process for placing corrected values on a supplementary roll. RCW 84.48.065(1) and (3).

Legacy's suggestion that review should be accepted in order to establish a greater sense of finality in the assessment review process is misdirected. To the extent Legacy believes that the time restrictions on manifest error corrections set forth in RCW 84.48.065 should be more restrictive, that debatable⁷ policy argument is more appropriately made to the Legislature.

⁷ Certainly, from a fairness perspective, if manifest errors were not correctable in the manner described by RCW 84.48.065, the taxpayer whose property was manifestly undervalued would realize an unintended windfall – in this case, in the hundreds of thousands of dollars. That unpaid property tax burden would accordingly shift to other taxpayers (who would, as a result, be saddled with a larger percentage of the total property value upon which property taxes are allocated). Moreover, under Legacy's approach, the taxpayer whose property was manifestly <u>over</u>valued would suffer unfair tax burdens that the legislature plainly sought to avoid. Taking, for example, the inverse of Legacy's immediate situation, if a property-owner's tax bill incorrectly listed multi-million dollar improvement value on a parcel whose structures were actually valued by assessment staff at \$1,000, Legacy's reading would preclude an Assessor from correcting the mistake as a manifest error under RCW 84.48.065.

B. 2010 Correction Before Close of 2010 Tax Roll.

The Court of Appeals likewise affirmed the Assessor's authority to correct Legacy's 2010 assessment before the 2010 tax roll had closed. The Court held that such action was subject to and satisfied applicable RCW 84.40.040 timelines.

Legacy erroneously argues that review of this portion of the decision is warranted in order to clarify an unresolved issue of whether the August 31st deadline in RCW 36.21.080 for listing new construction is directory or mandatory. In fact, the Court's holding with respect to the 2010 assessment was based upon ordinary assessment schedules in RCW 84.40.040 – and not upon new construction timelines in RCW 36.21.080. "As to the 2010 assessment, the Assessor correctly observes that RCW 84.40.040 rather than RCW 36.21.080 applies." Slip Opinion at p. 8. The decision then goes on to acknowledge and apply the long-settled interpretation of RCW 84.40.040's directory timelines established under *Niichel v. Lancaster*, 97 Wn.2d 620, 647 P.2d 1021 (1982). There is no conflicting opinion or issue of statewide importance presented by the decision.

While Legacy erroneously claims that the Court should have applied new construction timelines to the Assessor's 2010

correction, this claim is premised upon an incorrect assertion that the corrected 2010 values were based upon new construction in 2010. In fact, the values at issue here were overwhelmingly based upon improvements that were already in existence as of the January 1, 2010 valuation date and were therefore subject to ordinary assessment timelines. Supra fn. 3 and 4.

Finally, even if for sake of argument the new construction timelines did apply to the 2010 assessment corrections, Legacy's claim that such provisions should be construed as mandatory and not directory is at odds with the longstanding reasoning and approach in *Niichel*. The affirmative wording, tax assessment context, and legislative history associated with new construction provisions all demonstrate that such timelines are, like other timelines for listing tax assessments, directory. Detailed responses to Legacy's arguments disputing the directory nature of new

⁸ At most, only a very minor sliver of 2010 improvement value can be attributed to finalized construction occurring on parcel 733805-0010. The apartments at issue had already been virtually complete n 2009. Indeed, a certificate of occupancy had already issued for improvements on parcel 733805-0040 in August of 2009. CP 3 at 4.8 and 4.9. The fact that any new 2010 construction value was *de minimis* is also clear by comparing Legacy's assessed improvement values in 2009 with those in 2010. *Supra* at pp. 2 and 5 (**2009 values -** \$16,129,600 for parcel 733805-0010 and \$14,135,900 for parcel 733805-0040; **2010 values -** \$13,997,400 for parcel 733805-0010 and \$15,433,300 for parcel 733805-0040). While the value of parcel 733805-0040 increased marginally between 2009 and 2010, this change was not the result of new 2010 construction. As noted above, that building had already been fully constructed and cleared for occupancy back in 2009.

construction timelines are provided at footnote 24 of the Court of Appeals' decision and at pages 28 through 36 of King County's Court of Appeals brief.

IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For reasons set forth above, King County respectfully requests that Legacy's request for further review be denied.

DATED this Lift day of November, 2013.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

By: MICHAEL J. SINSKY, WSBA #19073
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent King County
Office WSBA #91002

OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK

To:

Tamaela, Lebryna

Cc:

Sinsky, Mike

Subject:

RE: Legacy Partners Riverpark Apartments Buildings v. King County, No. 89521-0

Received 11/27/13

Please note that any pleading filed as an attachment to e-mail will be treated as the original. Therefore, if a filing is by e-mail attachment, it is not necessary to mail to the court the original of the document.

From: Tamaela, Lebryna [mailto:Lebryna.Tamaela@kingcounty.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, November 27, 2013 3:30 PM

To: OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK

Cc: Sinsky, Mike

Subject: Legacy Partners Riverpark Apartments Buildings v. King County, No. 89521-0

Please find attached for filing King County Answer to Petition for Review and corresponding Certificate of Service.

Case Name: Legacy Partners Riverpark Apartments Buildings A/B LLC; Legacy Partners Riverpark Apartments Building E

LLC v. King County Washington

Case Number: 89521-0

The person filing these document is:

Michael J. Sinsky, WSBA # 19073 Sr. Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Phone: (206) 477-1120

Email: mike.sinsky@kingcounty.gov

Please contact Mike Sinsky or me if you have any questions. Thank you.

Lebryna Tamaela, Paralegal

King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office (206) 477-1162 p (206) 296-0191 f